

Expansion of Labour-Based Methods in Maintenance of Public Roads: Options for Promotion of Citizen Participation in Uganda



Feza Greene Kabasweka

ACODE Policy Briefing Paper Series No 34, 2016

Expansion of Labour-Based Methods in Maintenance of Public Roads

Options for Promotion of Citizen Participation in Uganda

Feza Greene Kabasweka

Published by ACODE P.O. Box 29836, Kampala - UGANDA Email: <u>library@acode-u.org</u>, <u>acode@acode-u.org</u> Website: <u>http://www.acode-u.org</u>

Citation:

Kabasweka, F., G., *Expansion of Labour-Based Methods in Maintenance of Public Roads: Options for Promotion of Citizen Participation in Uganda*, ACODE Policy Briefing Paper, No.34, 2016.

© ACODE 2016

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted in any form or by any means – electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise without prior permission of the publisher. ACODE policy work is supported by generous donations from bilateral donors and charitable foundations. The reproduction or use of this publication for academic or charitable purpose or for purposes of informing public policy is exempted from this restriction.

ISBN 978 9970 34 044 6

Table of contents

Acknowledgements	iii
Abbreviations	iv
Executive Summary	vi
1. Introduction	6
2. Defining Participation in Road Sector	7
3. Road Maintenance	8
4. Ugandan Context: Situation Analysis of Road Maintenance	8
4.1. Status of the road maintenance In Uganda	9
5. Labour-Based Approach in Road Maintenance	10
5.1. Arguments for expanding labour-based methods in maintenance of	
public roads	10
6. Community-Led Procurement: An alternative policy option to	
improve citizen participation in the road sector	12
6.1. Benefits of CLP	12
6.2. Challenges	13
7. Reforms to facilitate the expansion of Labour-based Methods in	
Road Maintenance	13
7.1. Labor-Based Framework in road maintenance in Uganda	14
8. Conclusion	16
References	17
Appendix 1: Examples of Empirical Studies that can support the	
financial feasibility of Labour based methods	18
Publications in this Series	20

List of Boxes

Box 1: How Participation is currently framed	7
Box 2: Findings from different studies on road maintenance in Uganda	9
Box 3: Evidence of Labour-based methods in Road Maintenance in Uganda 1	.5
Box 4: Labor-based Methods Success stories from other countries1	.5

List of Acronyms

ADB	African Development Bank
ARMP	Annual Road Maintenance Programmes
CARs	Community Access Roads
CLP	Community-Led Procurement
DAs	Designated Agencies
DPs	Development Partners
DRC	District Roads Committee
DUCAR	District, Urban and Community Access Roads
EPRC	Economic Policy Research Centre
GOU	Government of Uganda
GTZ	German Technical Co-operation
ILO	International Labour Organization
KCCA	Kampala Capital City Authority
LAPPCOM	Labour-based Policy Promotion Committee
LoGs	Local Governments
MoFPED	Ministry of Finance Planning and Economic Development
MoLG	Ministry of Local Government
MoWT	Ministry of Works and Transport
OAG	Office of the Auditor General
OECD	The Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development
PIARC	Permanent International Association of Road Congresses
RDSP	Re-integration of Demobilized Soldiers Programme
SIDA	Swedish International Development Cooperation Age
SSA	Sub-Saharan Africa
SWRARP	South-West Region Agricultural Rehabilitation Project
UNDP	United Nations Development Programme
UNRA	Uganda National Roads Authority
URF	Uganda Road Fund
UTRP	Uganda Transport Rehabilitation Project
WB	World Bank

Acknowledgements

This Policy Briefing Paper is based on work carried out by Advocates Coalition for Development and Environment (ACODE) on Public Expenditure Governance in the Road Sector. The support from the Public Expenditure Governance team and the Road Sector team - Feza Kabasweka Greene, George Bogere, Sam Kayabwe and Irene Achola - is gratefully acknowledged. Special thanks to Dr. Wilson Winstons Muhwezi who provided valuable comments that shaped the final arguments in the briefing paper.

Executive Summary

In recent years, the need to enhance public participation in public administration, and the efficacy of alternative mechanisms in achieving this goal, have been central themes in public literature. However, the benefits of public participation are often taken for granted, and partly for this reason the underlying rationale for greater public participation is sometimes poorly articulated, making it more difficult to determine how to pursue it effectively. Labour based maintenance of public roads provides an opportunity for participation of citizens in service delivery while providing employment and in some instances reducing the unit cost of maintenance.

There is also a growing recognition on the part of administrators that decision making without public participation is ineffective. Therefore, there is need to decide what citizen involvement intends to gain; and which technique will best provide the information for the decision making process.

Uganda has taken a number of commendable steps with initiatives underway to improve the effectiveness and productivity of citizen participation in sectors. Moreover, the tools for participatory procedures are gradually being established and are beginning to prove important and valuable in the management of public institutions. For example, there have been some developments to increase transparency and consultation in the budget process. The sector working groups that prepare budget framework papers bring together central and line ministries, civil society and development partners. This is precarious since citizens' feedback on government expenditure governance, implementation of public works and the delivery of public programmes and services is vital in improving performance.

Thus, there is need for a policy that systematically enables communities, through their own organizations, to participate fully and effectively in the organization, co-ordination, and management at every stage of the project cycle. As a complementary strategy, this paper recommends that government needs to strengthen beneficiary participation by adopting initiatives that allow citizens to be better informed about projects and available public resources to ensure ownership, accountability, transparency, efficiency and effectiveness. Whereas, examples from different countries have shown that Labour-based techniques can be successfully applied to most maintenance activities on the entire road network, Labour-based methods in Uganda are confined to maintenance of Community and Access Roads (URF 2013; Taylor and Bekabye 1999; Stock and Veen 1996). There is need of an appropriate mix of Labour and light machinery, under the Labour-Based Methods, to substitute machines in

Uganda's infrastructure production and maintenance. Transport Maintenance projects must be based on a clear understanding of the local situation; should incorporate the expertise, knowledge and perception of the local community and must substantially involve them in projects' implementation. The Paper makes a plea for more attention to nurture the concept of labour-based methods and improve it by rationalizing the process and evolving structures to facilitate its application in the road sector.

I. Introduction

The concept of citizens' participation in government decision making is fundamental to the functioning of a democratic system of governance. Even though officials are elected to represent citizens, they need to inform, be informed and interact with citizens (Kumar 2002). A central argument is that traditional government perceptions on citizen consultation must be reconsidered to include greater opportunities for informed community participation in planning and decision making processes. The notable five objectives of citizen participation are; information exchange, education, support building, supplemental decision making, and representational input (Seltzer and Mahmoudi 2012).

While citizen participation has become an element in many planning efforts, planners and citizens often assess participatory approaches as being unsatisfactory. The contention is that not enough attention is given to the design of participatory programs. Consequently, failure to match objectives to techniques happens (Devas and Grant 2003). Responding to donor pressure, governments are often urged to adopt participatory approaches in their ministries as a means of influencing policy, and as a form of planning at multiple levels (Holland et al., 1998). As institutions become more inclusive through promotion of participation, the experiences of intended beneficiaries become a critical component of not only assessing the performance of government but also for the delivery of appropriate and quality services (PME 2013:2).

Although there is theoretical and practical recognition that the public is more involved in public decisions (MoLG 2014), the Government of Uganda needs to find better ways to engender citizen participation. This briefing paper looks at how government can improve citizen participation in the road sector through countrywide application of Labour-based methods in road maintenance programs. Labour-based methods help grassroots people organise themselves and negotiate for a greater share and more control over national infrastructure investment resources. Labour-based methods promotion initiatives in Uganda have also presented the use of labour-based methods as the best option when compared with equipment-based methods, primarily to provide the sound infrastructure that the country needs (Taylor and Bekabye 1999). Moreover, for transport projects to have a positive impact on poverty reduction, their design must be based on a clear understanding of the local situation; should incorporate the expertise, knowledge and perception of the local community and must substantially involve them in projects' implementation(Taylor and Bekabye 1999). Therefore, by involving communities in road maintenance activities, Ministry of Works and Transport (MoWT) can access local knowledge of the roads and thereby improve road maintenance services. Similarly, local communities can appreciate better issues of road maintenance and the role of the MoWT in the roads sector. Increasing the knowledge about roads for these two stakeholders has potential to improve the maintenance of the road network. Thus, it is necessary to support the uptake of systematic ways that bring the experiences of citizens into governance of the roads sector.

However, empirical evidence has shown that despite its benefits, Labour based infrastructure programmes "are not growing, and at least not at the pace they deserve" (ILO 1999:16). Whereas, examples from different countries have shown that labour-based techniques can be successfully applied to most maintenance activities on the entire road network, labour-based methods in Uganda are confined to maintenance of Community and Access Roads (URF 2013; Taylor and Bekabye 1999; Stock and Veen 1996).

Within the above setting, this briefing paper makes a strong case for a wider application of labour-based methods as a technique to promote citizen participation. It provides information on how widespread labour-based methods have the potential to include a representative range of citizens in implementation of road works, which eventually improves citizens' decision making power regarding their transport needs and priorities. The paper also identifies key reforms that can facilitate a sustainable expansion of the use of labour-based methods beyond the pilot rural maintenance projects to where the methods are currently confined.

This paper establishes the purpose for public participation in public expenditure governance in the road sector and discusses its implications for decision making. It then draws on the rationale for using local labour not only to develop strong economies and reduce unemployment but also as a citizen participation-generating tool. It considers how labour-based methods can better be institutionalized in not only small-scale rural maintenance projects but also major infrastructure programmes in the road sector.

2. Defining Participation in Road Sector

The need to involve users in planning, prioritizing, implementing and maintaining assets and services has become a priority in capturing additional resources and creating ownership. Participation provides opportunities for capacity building and empowerment.

Box 1: How Participation is currently framed

- 1. **Conventional Participation:** Administrators are territorial and parochial; they resist sharing information and rely on their technical and professional expertise to justify their role in administrative processes. Citizen participation is more symbolic than real (Arnstein, 1969). The power that citizens yield is aimed at blocking or redirecting administrative efforts rather than working as partners to define the issues, establish the parameters, develop methods of investigation, and select techniques for addressing problem
- Authentic Participation: The public is part of the deliberation process from issue framing to decision making (Roberts, 1997). As a citizen indicated, "From the very beginning people need to be involved." An administrator told us, "If you go to the community with a totally preset agenda that doesn't work. Bringing people into the process too late does not work"
 Source: (King et al 1998)

Greater emphasis has recently been given to "authentic participation" in development strategies. The focus has highlighted the fact that development programmes are unlikely to succeed if the intended beneficiaries are not involved in the entire process (King et al 1998). This entails involvement of citizens throughout the process from identification to operation, maintenance and evaluation. For this reason the policy briefing paper will focus on citizen participation in maintenance of not only the CARs but all public roads in Uganda. For avoidance of doubt, in this paper, District, Urban and Community Access Roads (DUCAR) will be termed as public roads.

3. Road Maintenance

Road maintenance means preserving and keeping road structures as near as possible in their original state (Burnigham and Stankveich 2005). It consists of correcting deficiencies that have developed as a result of age or use, and taking steps to prevent the development of other deficiencies (World Bank 1988). It also comprises the activities to keep pavement, shoulders, slopes, drainage facilities and all the structure and property within the road margins in good condition (PIARC, 1994). Road maintenance is vital in order to prolong the life span of roads and is an essential follow-up action after road infrastructure improvement

investment.

Due to lack of "planned maintenance" initiatives, the rate of deterioration of road network in developing countries is faster than the rate of construction (Ahmed, 2011). In Africa, nearly a third of the \$150 billion invested in roads is eroded due to lack of maintenance (Burnigham and Stankveich 2005). Therefore, a well-planned road infrastructure maintenance program is necessary to minimize further investment in the roads that deteriorate. Accordingly, empirical studies have shown that labour-based methods and less use of heavy equipment are considered as the best option for reconstruction and maintenance of infrastructure (Taylor and Bekabye 1999).

4. Ugandan Context: Situation Analysis of Road Maintenance

The Uganda Road Fund (URF) has the main objective of financing routine and periodic maintenance of public roads in Uganda from mainly reserved road user charges. The Fund has a duty to finance the implementation of the Annual Road Maintenance Programmes (ARMP) that are carried out by the Uganda National Roads Authority (UNRA), Kampala Capital City Authority (KCCA) and the other designated agencies responsible for District, Urban and Community Access Roads .Road maintenance in Uganda is undertaken through direct labour (force account) [equipment-intensive operations at the district level]. Routine road maintenance in Uganda usually involves keeping roads clear of debris, pothole filling and clearing roadside drains. Periodic maintenance is done once in a while and it involves surface reshaping by light grading, re-gravelling, minor culvert and bridge repairs and replacement. In order to eliminate the maintenance backlog, Government increased its funding to road maintenance. During the F/Y 2009/10 the Works and Transport sector received Shs.1, 214.8bn. Out of this figure, 14% of the funding to UNRA was for road maintenance (MoFED 2009).

This financing intended to:

- Ensure the maintenance of the rural feeder road network in good condition;
- Develop capacities for the local construction industry;
- Build capacity of district and urban LoGs to plan, finance and supervise works on their road networks; and
- Promote labour intensive works, especially involving women, to improve their livelihoods.

4.1. Status of the road maintenance in Uganda

Despite the allocation of the biggest part of the national budget to the Transport Sector, the condition of roads remains un-satisfactory.

Box 2: Findings from different studies on road maintenance in Uganda

A study done by EPRC: showed that although equipment provided by the government reached the district, a closer scrutiny of the available equipment reveals that most of the important equipment is obsolete and is in a non-functional state or in dire need of repair or grounded. While the government regional workshops for maintenance and repair of the machines are still operational, it takes a longer time to have the machines taken there to get them repaired. For instance, it is several years since the wheel loader for Soroti District was taken for repair. This, to a great extent, has paralysed district works at the lower levels. Further discussions with the Acting District Engineers revealed that once the machines were taken for repair, it was equally important not to consider them during the planning of activities. The cost of transporting the equipment to the central government mechanical workshop is too prohibitive (pg. 29). The working condition of the road equipment, in addition to its obsolete nature, was sighted as one of the major constraints to infrastructure development in the local governments. Grounded machinery constrains the entire works department of Pallisa and Soroti districts. Discussions with the acting district engineers revealed a major challenge in the repair of this equipment and machinery which is attributed to limited funding. Furthermore, the cost of transporting the machinery to Bugembe is so high leaving the district with no option but to ground some of its machinery. According to the acting engineers, when spare parts are procured and mechanics are requested to come to the district to carry out repairs, they are not only slow to respond but also costly in terms of meeting their allowances (See Magidu et al 2010)

A study done by OAG on Management of Road Maintenance by UNRA in 2009 revealed lack of grading or mowing of grass on the edge of the roadway at various locations. It was observed that grass had grown beyond tolerable height to the extent of diverting storm water onto the carriage-way, destroying the shoulders and part of the carriage-way. This scenario was very prominent on the Ishaka-Katunguru road around Rutoto hill, at Igorora town board, 17km on Ibanda - Mbarara road and the 18 km stretch of Mbale–Sironko road. Similarly, the inspection on gravel roads revealed grass that was growing and narrowing the carriageway and obstructing visibility, making the roads prone to accidents. A case in point is Kamuli-Namasagali road.

The study also argues that the major reasons for inadequate maintenance of grass on the carriage and shoulders under routine and periodic road maintenance are: inadequate supervision human resource in form of foremen and road overseers; late remittance of maintenance funds to station offices, which delays maintenance works; failure to observe local weather conditions that affect the road maintenance pattern; Inadequate road maintenance equipment. The adoption of labour-based approach could be a panacea to this protracted problem.(See OAG 2009)

Accordingly, the absorption of funds by DAs was rated as poor showing that

the problems of rural road maintenance are not uniquely related to financing (OAG 2012; URF 2013). Studies show that institutional factors relating to the lack of clear responsibility at different decentralized levels for maintenance planning, budgeting and implementation also explains the poor condition of the roads in Uganda (OAG 2012; URF 2013). Furthermore, there is over reliance on heavy machinery which is usually manned by personnel who are not capable of using it or carrying out repairs whenever the machines break down. This explains the non-functional state of most of the equipment at the districts (Magidu et al 2010). This observation is consistent with the view that there is an obligation to investigate the possibilities of utilizing more labor-intensive methods in maintenance of public roads to address the challenges associated with equipment- based methods.

5. Labour-Based Approach in Road Maintenance

Operationally, 'labor-based methods' refers to using labour and light equipment as the predominant mode of production (Stock and Veen 1996). The concept is based on the principle of using manual labor to complete tasks otherwise done by the machine. In the 1970s, ILO and the World Bank introduced labor-based methods in SSA countries on a pilot basis to assess technical and economic feasibility of the methods in a particular country. These studies concluded that "labor-intensive methods are technically feasible for a wide range of construction activities and can generally produce the same quality of product as equipment-intensive methods" (Construction Industry Development Board 2005). Noteworthy, labour-based techniques do not imply the complete elimination of machinery but rather a labour/equipment mix that gives priority to labour (Tajgman and Veen 1998)

5.1. Arguments for expanding labour-based methods in maintenance of public roads

In order to transform the poor condition of public roads in Africa, it has become imperative to adopt an approach that would not only allow for road maintenance on a continuous basis but also affordable within certain scope of maintenance schedules. Moreover, for transport projects to have a positive impact on poverty reduction there is need for policy arrangements to have stakeholders more involved in issues related to resource generation, allocation and prioritization of road investments (Kumar 2002). This briefing paper advocates for expansion of labour-based methods as the preeminent option for achieving this. These methods not only produce gravel roads of quality equal to roads made by equipment-based methods, but can also help organize workers to negotiate more

substantial participation in the national development process(Tajgman and Veen 1998). Application of such methods can halt road network deterioration and ensure that financial, material and human investments are made in a manner which maintains the quality and value of the assets and also improves the road network in relation to the demands and priorities of the users. Roads built and maintained by labour-based approach are more durable because of greater attention to detail during maintenance (Republic of Mozambique/ UNDP/SIDA, 2002).

The preference of this approach is also based on the fact that labour-based methods have a significantly higher employment creation potential when compared with equipment-based methods. They generate about 2.5-4.0 times as much employment of unskilled labourers as equipment-based methods (Taylor and Bekabye 1999)

Also, the use of labour-based approach becomes viable because most local government councils do not have the financial muscle and the required personnel to embark on equipment (machine) based approaches. The continuous use of heavy machines for the construction and maintenance of public roads has been found to have many challenges (Magidu et al 2010). These include but are not limited to fuel shortage, delays in procurement for both equipment and spare parts, inappropriate type of equipment, lack of understanding of equipment used and poorly trained and ill-motivated operators (URF 2013).

Despite its potential for involvement in many areas of development, labourbased pilots in Africa collapsed soon after the ILO and WB pilot ended or have remained primarily in the rural roads sector (ILO/GOU 1999; Stock and Veen 1999). Most countries have been accused of paying political lip-service to the expansion of labour-based methods rather than nurturing the concept to its full potential (ILO 1999). Unfortunately, even in countries where labour is abundant and capital is scarce, contractors are reluctant to adopt labour-based methods (Taylor and Bekabye 1999). Most labour-based activities remain project oriented rather than being part of national infrastructure programmes.

In Uganda, the use of equipment-based methods in road maintenance is still considerably high; 47% of the road maintenance done in FY 2011/2012 was carried out by equipment-based methods (URF 2013). This applies even to donor supported programmes albeit the fact that the same donors were advocating for labour-based methods. Taylor and Bekabye (1999) found that majority of donor supported road projects (six out of nine) used equipment-based methods.

6. Community-Led Procurement:An alternative policy option to improve citizen participation in the road sector

Community- Led Procurement (CLP) can be defined as an approach where the responsibility for managing financial resources and contracting service providers is vested in community organizations (Kalesh et al 2009). This gives locally elected community groups control of programme or project resources from local government and/or donors to acquire products, contractors and services. It involves the creation of community based organizations (CBOs) for design, implementation and management of local development works (Uriona 2001).

In this backdrop, CLP enables local communities to implement and control the procurement process through their own organizations often resulting in more openness and accountability, ownership, reduced corruption and wastage, better value for money, increased use of local workers/contractors and better quality works and services. CLP also helps citizens to be better informed about available public resources and projects and to manage their development in accordance with their shared vision.

The community is usually represented by some form of community-based organization or local project committee. Therefore, it is not the "community" per se that enters into a contract with the funding agency, but the group representing that community (Kalesh et al 2009).

6.1. Benefits of CLP

- Promotes community dialogue and consensus building through information-gathering and collective financial management.
- Strengthens citizen voice and community empowerment.
- Educates the community on available budgets and establishes realistic expectations about budgetary expenditures.
- Builds the technical capacity of both local communities and local government officials in procurement practices.
- Results in greater transparency and accountability in procurement practices.
- If successfully implemented, helps to curb corruption and waste, save money and generate local employment and asset creation

6.2. Challenges

Even though the benefits of CLP are now widely recognized, it may not work efficiently and effectively in Uganda because it is a new concept and initiative. Local governments lack structures or policies in place to accommodate such

initiatives. Moreover, governments may also be doubtful of the capacity of local communities to handle and sustain the process. Exposing government representatives to successful CLP initiatives, or involving them at different stages throughout the process, can help to overcome these challenges.

7. Reforms to facilitate the expansion of Labour-based Methods in Road Maintenance

Given the importance of labor-based methods, several key principles and reforms have been suggested to guide their design, implementation and expansion in road works. These include but are not limited to:

Generating government commitment to the labor-based technology: Broad government policies have the inherent ability to influence the expansion of labour-based methods in road works. However, according to ILO's review of the practice of Labour-based methods, most countries are still confining this approach to small-scale maintenance of feeder roads (ILO, 1999). Therefore, there is need for more labour-based policy promotion initiatives that do not merely present the application of the approach but give evidence based arguments that support its economic and social benefits. For example, various statistics indicate a cost advantage in favor of labour-based methods whose application was found on average to be 18% cheaper than equipment-based methods for full rehabilitation (Stock 1996; Taylor and Bekabye 1999). Such facts help to quantify the impact of introducing and expanding labor based methods and eventually generate government commitment to the policy (See appendix 1).

Supportive policy framework: There is need for governments and donors to make deliberate policy choices that support the use of labour-based approaches on infrastructure projects. Thus, macroeconomic, sectoral and cross-cutting policies should complement each other to ensure that the policy framework is supportive of labour-based methods' contribution to employment creation and pro-poor growth.

Altering labour laws to make them conducive to labour-based methods: In relation to a supportive policy framework, governments need to review labour laws in order to develop an enabling environment in which labour-based methods can operate. This is because these laws adversely affect the cost of labour relative to equipment, making labour-based methods less viable. Examples of these laws include: the minimum wage that reflects the market wage, regulations on hiring and firing, and legislation on pegging wage rates to productivity.

Providing training so that quality can be ensured: Labour-based methods, when employed haphazardly, will not be competitive with equipment-based methods (Stock 1999). Accordingly, if institution and capacity building are neglected, and the working environment is not modified to allow the effective use of the new methods, the results will inevitably be inferior. This leads to failure in the longer term. Therefore, capacity building has to be conducted across all sectors (e.g., private sector, community groups, government and non-governmental organisations) and at national and subnational levels (OECD 2012).

Selecting a delivery mechanism that is suitable for the country: Before adopting a labour-based program, program designers need to compare the various delivery mechanism models (see Box 3) for initiating labour-based programs. They also need to understand each model's relative strengths in order to choose the most suitable model or succession of models for a particular country, given the characteristics of its road sector.

Box 3: World Bank's Six Models for initiating and Expanding Labour Based Programs

- i. **The force account model** ('in house' workforce) whereby a government body hires labour directly (either as individual workers or as worker teams) and provides the necessary supervision, administration and management required to execute the works.
- ii. **The conventional model** whereby a conventional contractor hires labour directly and provides the supervision, administration and management required to execute the works.
- iii. **The sub-contracting model** whereby a large contractor or firm sub-contracts the portions of the projects that are labour-based to small contractors and assumes overall responsibility for the supervision, administration and management required to execute the works.
- iv. **The government-run model** whereby the responsibility for all aspects of contractor development, including small contractor administration and payment, and the overall responsibility for the supervision, administration and management required to execute the works, lies with a government agency.
- v. **The agency model** whereby the responsibility for all aspects of contractor development including small contractor administration and payment and the overall responsibility for the supervision, administration and management required to execute the works, lies with an independent non-profit management agency or with a for-profit consulting firm.
- vi. **The development team model** whereby the responsibility for all aspects of contractor development and the management of the works is divided amongst the Client Body (Employer), a Construction Manager and a Materials Manager

Source: (Stock and Veen 1999)

7.1. Labor-Based Framework in road maintenance in Uganda

The labour-based approach is not a new concept or initiative as shown in Box 4. In Uganda, labour-based routine maintenance contracts were first introduced in 1992 as part of the Interim Maintenance Project. Among the policy reforms of a powerful Inter-Ministerial Steering Committee was the emphasis of the "use of small labour-based contracts for routine maintenance operations; force accounts to be used only where labour-based contracts were not practicable" (ILO 1997:17). Moreover, LAPPCOM project, a joint initiative between the ILO and GoU, underscores the promotion and institutionalization of labour-based technology in all public investments (Taylor and Bekabye 1999). Although labor-based methods have proved to be a cost-effective alternative to equipment-based methods in many low-wage Sub-Saharan African countries, these methods have not been applied on a large scale (Stock 1996)

Box 4: Evidence of Labour-based methods in Road Maintenance in Uganda

These are some of labor-based contracting programmes targeted at manual routine maintenance activities:

- 1. The Uganda Transport Rehabilitation Project, aimed at the rehabilitation and maintenance of feeder roads in the four districts of Mbale, Pallisa, Tororo and Kapchorwa in Eastern Uganda
- 2. The African Development Bank (ADB) rural feeder roads rehabilitation and maintenance project, involved in routine maintenance of rehabilitated roads
- 3. Reintegration of demobilised soldiers programme, aimed at providing demobilised soldiers with skills and employment in rehabilitating feeder roads in ten districts
- 4. Projects under the Ministry of Planning and Economic Development labour-intensive project, which include the multi-sectoral project in Karamoja; the rehabilitation project in Luwero district; promoting local building materials project; South-West feeder roads project; and Masulita development project

Source: (ILO 1997:17)

Box 5: Labor-based Methods Success stories from other countries

Kenya: adopted labour-based approach for rural roads maintenance in 1999 to cover four districts in her road project tagged "Roads 2000". A total of 137 contractors (comprising an average of 10 trainee members) have benefited from this programme. These contractor's trainees have maintained a total of 900km length of road.

Mozambique: over 5000km of rural roads were upgraded between 1992 and 2000 using labourbased approach (Republic of Mozambique/UNDP/SIDA, 2002). It also created about 8 million worker-day of employment and more than 40,000 rural people worked on the programme

Cambodia: A major concern was the future maintenance of the improved infrastructure. Cambodia, like many other developing countries, has a rather lackluster track record when it comes to maintaining its road network. Therefore, the project developed a full maintenance management system at an early stage, which was installed immediately the first roads had been completed. As a result, the rural roads can now boast the best maintenance programme in the country. This system, based on petty contractors recruited in the vicinity of the roads, provides the regular maintenance work required to keep roads open through terrain which floods on an annual basis. Source: (Stock 1996)

8. Conclusion

The citizens who are also road users are very important stakeholders in the maintenance of the road network. They have a great deal of local knowledge about their roads that can help the relevant authorities better provide and maintain the road network. Old and new research on the matter and project experience concludes that in virtually all cases, an appropriate mix of labour and light machinery, under the Labour-Based Methods, can substitute for machines in developing countries in significant aspects of infrastructure production and maintenance. Moreover, if transport projects are to have a positive impact on poverty reduction, their design must be based on a clear understanding of the local situation; should incorporate the expertise, knowledge and perception of the local community and must substantially involve them in projects' implementation.

Based on Uganda's maintenance backlog and inherent challenges in using heavy machines for road maintenance, there is need therefore, to institute the reforms that will facilitate a sustainable expansion of the use of labor-based methods. In addition to employment and infrastructure development benefits of the methods, the approach has the potential to extensively increase citizen participation when the scope of its application in road maintenance is increased. Therefore, this paper has managed to show that, going forward, application and expansion of labour-based methods is an efficient and effective citizen participation-generating tool which may resolve the problem of the protracted deplorable and deteriorating condition of public roads in the country.

Bibliography

- A Framework for Strengthening Citizen- Government Partnerships for Monitoring Frontline Service Delivery. (2013). Performance Monitoring and Evaluation. The presidency Republic of South Africa
- Ahmed, A.K. F. (2011). Financing Rural Feeder Road Maintenance in Bangladesh: Towards A Sustainable Approach. Journal of the Eastern Asia Society for Transportation Studies, 2(6), 2117-2130.
- Arnstein, S. R. (1969). A ladder of citizen participation. Journal of the American Institute of planners, 35(4), 216-224.
- Azfar, O., Kähkönen, S., Livingston, J., Meagher, P., & Rutherford, D. (2000). Making decentralization work: An empirical investigation of governance and public services in Uganda. University of Maryland, College Park. Processed.
- Burningham, S., & Stankevich, N. (2005). Why road maintenance is important and how to get it done.
- Carruthers, R., Krishnamani, R. R., & Murray, S. (2008). Improving Connectivity: Investing in Transport Infrastructure in Sub-Saharan Africa. Background paper, 7.
- Community Agriculture Infrastructure Improvement Programme. (2006) 'Project 1 Appraisal Report', African Development Fund- Department of Agriculture and Agro-Industry.
- Contreras, J., & Cartier. V.D.S., (2004) 'Routine Road Maintenance Microenterprise – an Option for Employment Generation and Capacity Building,' ILO/ASSIST Bulletin No. 17 Pg 6&7. Geneva: ILO.
- Construction Industry Development Board (2005). Guidelines for Labour Intensive Construction Methods. CIDB
- De Silva, S. (2000). Community-based contracting: a review of stakeholder experience. World Bank.
- De Silva, S. (2002). Communities Taking the Lead: A Handbook on Direct Financing of Community Subprojects. World Bank.

Devas, N., & Grant, U. (2003). Local government decision-making-citizen

participation and local accountability: Some evidence from Kenya and Uganda. Public Administration and development, 23(4), 307-316.

- Eric, G. (2002). "Putting Routine Maintenance First: Experiences from Routine Maintenance using Small Scale Contracting In Coast Province, Kenya." ILO/ ASIST Bulletin No 3 March 2002.Geneve: ILO/ ASIST. PP 6-8
- Fiduciary Management for Community-Driven Development Projects (2002). A Reference Guide World Bank Financial Management & Procurement Sector Boards,
- International Labour Organization, (1997) 'Labour-based technology, A review of current practice', Proceedings of the sixth regional seminar, Kampala.
- ------'Labour-based technology (1999) A review of current practice', Proceedings of the sixth regional seminar, Kampala.
- Khwaja, A. I. (2001). Can good projects succeed in bad communities? Collective action in the Himalayas. Collective Action in the Himalayas (March 2001). John F. Kennedy School of Government Faculty Research Working Papers Series RWP01-043.
- King, C. S., Feltey, K. M., & Susel, B. O. N. (1998). The question of participation: Toward authentic public participation in public administration. Public administration review, 317-326.
- Kumar, A. (2002). A contrasting Approach to road Reforms. The case Study of Uganda Experience.: The World Bank and Economic Commission for Africa.
- Kumar, A. K. K., & Rajwade, S. (2009) 'Decentralised Procurement Management and Fiduciary Assurance Mechanisms in Kerala Panchayati Raj: A Review', The World Bank.
- Kumar, A. K. K., Rajwade. S, Boyle. J, Dasgupta, S., & Madan, P. (2009). Report of Study on Community Based Procurement in 3 CDD Projects, The World Bank Procurement Services Unit, New Delhi
- Magidu, N., Alumai, J. G., & Nabiddo, W. (2010). Public expenditure tracking on road infrastructure in Uganda: The case study of Pallisa and Soroti Districts. Kampala, Uganda: Economic Policy Research Center.

Mbungu, M. (1999). Procurement and Financial Procedures Manual for Use by

Community-Based Organizations. World Bank, Accra Ghana.

- Ministry of Local Government. (2014). Decentralisation of Local Development in Uganda. Republic of Uganda
- Office of the Auditor General. (2009). Engineering Audit of Uganda National Roads Authority. (2009). Kampala.
- Office of the Auditor General. (2012). Annual Report of the Auditor General for the year ended. (2012). Kampala.
- Raballand, G., Macchi, P., Merotto, D., & Petracco, C. (2009). Revising the roads investment strategy in rural areas: An application for Uganda. World Bank Policy Research Working Paper Series, Vol.
- Republic of Mozambique / UNDP/SIDA. (2002). 'Mozambique: Re-opening Mozambique: Lessons Learned from the Feeder Road Programme', UNDP.
- Roberts, N. (1997). "Public Deliberation: An Alternative Approach to Crafting Policy and Setting Direction." Public Administration Review 57(2): 124-132
- Seltzer, E., & Mahmoudi, D. (2012). Citizen participation, open innovation, and crowdsourcing: Challenges and opportunities for planning. Journal of Planning Literature, 0885412212469112.
- Stock, E. A. (1996). The Problems Facing Labor-Based Road Programs and What To Do About Them: Evidence from Ghana. World Bank. Africa region. Technical department. Environmentally sustainable development division.
- Stock, E., & De Veen, J. (1996). Expanding Labor-Based Methods in Road Programs. Approach Paper, Sub-Saharan Africa Transport Policy Program, World Bank and Economic Commission for Africa, SSATP Working Paper, (18).
- Tajgman, D., & de Veen, J. J. (1998). Employment-intensive infrastructure programmes: Labour policies and practices. International Labour Office.
- Taylor, G., & Bakabye, M. (1999). An Opportunity For Employment Creation, Labour-based Technology in Roadworks: The Macro-Economic Dimension (p. 28). ILO.
- Uganda Road Fund. (2011). Uganda Road Fund Annual Report 2009/2010. Kampala

- Uganda Road Fund. (2013) .Uganda Road Fund Annual Report 2011/2012. Kampala
- Uriona, J. A. C. (2001). Guide for Task Teams on procurement procedures used in Social funds.
- World Bank. (1988). Road Deterioration in Developing Countries: Causes and Remedies. Washington DC: The World Bank

Appendices

	Equipm	ent based	La		
	Component	Details	Approx Cost Details		Approx Cost
1	Labour Skilled	100man days@\$1/day	100	1000man days@\$1/day	1000
	Skilled	150man days@2∖ day	300	200mandays @\$2/day	400
	Local Supervisory	25man days@2/ day	50	50man days@ \$2/day	1500
2	Tools and Equipment	Graders, dozers, trucks and hand tools	2900	Hand tools, wheel barrows,	1000
	Materials		1800		1800
		Total	4350		3500

Appendix 1. Financial cost projects for Equipment and Labour based construction of Rural Roads

Source: Stock 1990

Project	Method of Implementation	Percentage Costs					Cost per KM(Ush M)
		Supervisor	Labour	Material	Equipment	Overhead	
GTZ(Labour)	Labour	50.3	37.9	5.7	0.8	5.3	3.46
RDSP	Labour	0.0	48.8	15.0	7.7	28.9	3.26
Average	Labour	7.8	47.1	13.6	6.7	24.9	3.29
GTZ(Equipment)	Equipment	30.7	3.4	3.4	2.5	60.5	2.8
Coffee	Equipment	25.2	1.5	1.5	4.7	66.4	2.2
Average	Equipment	26.8	2.1	4.1	4.1	64.7	2.4

Appendix 2. Economic Cost Breakdown and Unit Cost of Spot Rehabilitation Programmes

Source: (Taylor and Bekabye 1999)

. A Framework for Strengthening Citizen- Government Partnerships for Monitoring Frontline Service Delivery. (2013). South Africa: The Presidency Republic of South Africa.

Publications in this Series

Mpeirwe, A., WTO Negotiations on Geographical Indicators: A Case for Nondiscrimination of Products of Interest to Developing Countries, Kampala, ACODE Policy Briefing Paper, No.1, 2003.

Tumushabe, G. W., *Type II Partnerships As a Strategy for Implementing WSSD Outcomes: Considerations to Guide Government Decision Making,* Kampala, ACODE Policy Briefing Paper, No.2, 2004.

Mugyenyi, O., Status of EPA Negotiations: Eastern and Southern Africa Approach and the Challenges to Effective Negotiations, Kampala, ACODE Policy Briefing Paper, No.3, 2004.

Tumushabe, G. W., and Naluwairo, R., *COP-MOP 1 Decision on Liability and Redress: Analysis of Implications and Challenges for Eastern and Southern Africa,* Kampala, ACODE Policy Briefing Paper, No.4, 2004.

Naluwairo, R., and Tumushabe, G. W, *Uganda's Position on GMO's: Whose position? Reflections on Uganda's Policy Making Process on GMOs,* Kampala, ACODE Policy Briefing Paper, No.5, 2004.

Naluwairo, R., and Tumushabe, G. W., *Approaches to Biosafety Legislation in Africa: Options to Facilitate National Decision Making,* Kampala, ACODE Policy Briefing Paper, No.6, 2004.

Tumushabe, G. W, and Bainomugisha, A., *The Politics of Investment and Land Acquisition in Uganda: A Case Study of Pian Upe Game Reserve,* Kampala, ACODE Policy Briefing Paper, No.7, 2004.

Naluwairo, R., *Promoting Common Property Rights in Fisheries Management in Uganda: A Review of the National Fisheries Policy and the Proposed Legislation,* Kampala, ACODE Policy Briefing Paper, No.8, 2005.

Tumushabe, G. W, and Naluwairo, R., *Harnessing the Power of Intellectual Property Rights in Building Science and Technological Capacity: Key Issues for Policy Makers in East Africa,* Kampala, ACODE Policy Briefing Paper, No.9, 2005.

Tabaro, E., *Copyright Law Reform in Uganda: Addressing International Standards at the Expense of Domestic Objectives,* Kampala, ACODE Policy Briefing Paper, No.10, 2005.

Tumushabe, G. W, and Mugyenyi O., *Uganda National Biodiversity Strategy and Action Plan: The Crisis in Uganda's Biodiversity Policy Making Process,* Kampala, ACODE Policy Briefing Paper, No.12, 2005.

Mugyenyi, O., Twesigye, B., and Muhereza, E., *Balancing Nature Conservation and Livelihoods: A Legal Analysis of the Forestry Evictions by the National Forestry Authority,* Kampala, ACODE Policy Briefing Paper, No.13, 2005.

Mugyenyi, O., and Twesigye, B., Marginalization of the Environment and Natural Resources Sector: The Roots of Economic Crisis and Poverty: A Policy Memorandum Submitted by ACODE to the 8th Parliament during the debate on the budget for the Financial Year 2006/2007, Kampala, ACODE Policy Briefing Paper, No.14, 2006.

Keizire, B., Muhwezi, W. W., Natuhwera, C. and Kayiso F., *Examining the Nexus between Nature, Wealth and Power in the Lake George Fishery: The Case of Major Actors in the Fish Product Chain,* Kampala, ACODE Policy Briefing Paper, No.15, 2006.

Mugyenyi, O., *Gifted by Nature, Dispossessed by Parliament: The Plight of Mpungu Community in Kanungu District,* Kampala, ACODE Policy Briefing Paper, No.16, 2006.

Mwenda, A., *Redefining Uganda's Budget Priorities: A Critique of the 2006/07 Budget,* Kampala, ACODE Policy Briefing Paper, No.17, 2006.

Tumushabe, G. W., *Redefining Uganda's Budget Priorities: A Critique of the 2006/07 Budget (Executive Summary),* Kampala, ACODE Policy Briefing Paper, No.18, 2007.

Mwesige, P., and Muyomba-Tamale, L., *Deepening Democracy in Uganda: Legislative and Administrative Reforms Ahead of 2011 Elections,* Kampala, ACODE Policy Briefing Paper, No.19, 2007.

Mushemeza, E. D., *The Functioning of Multiparty System in Local Governments: Challenges of Transition from the Movement System in Uganda,* Kampala, ACODE Policy Briefing Paper, No.20, 2007.

Naluwairo, R., and Tabaro, E., *In Defence of Farmers' and Community Rights: Justifying their Inclusion in Uganda's Plant Variety Protection Legislation,* Kampala, ACODE Policy Briefing Paper, No.21, 2010.

Mugyenyi, O., and Kagarura, D., *Step By Step Guidelines for Making Ordinances and Bye Laws for Local Governments in Uganda,* Kampala, ACODE Policy Briefing Paper No.22, 2010.

Tumushabe, G., Muyomba-Tamale, L., Ssemakula, E. G., and Lukwago, D., *Uganda Local Government Councils Score-Card Report 2008/09: A Comparative Summary of Findings, Conclusions and Recommendations,* Kampala, ACODE Policy Briefing Paper Series, No.23, 2010.

Mugyenyi, O., Kaggwa, R., Kisaame, K. E., and Solomon, S., *Marginalisation of Environment and Natural Resources Sub-sector: Undermining the Economic Base and Entrenching Poverty in Uganda,* Kampala, ACODE Policy Briefing Paper Series, No.24, 2011.

Allen, E. P., *Will a New US Law Bring Oil Revenue Transparency to Uganda? What the New US Dodd-Frank Act of 2010 Means for Oil and Gas Governance,* Kampala, ACODE Policy Briefing Paper Series, No.25, 2011.

Bogere, G., Okumu, L., and Allen, E. P., *The Way Forward: Short- and Long-Term Policy Responses to Uganda's Economic Crisis,* Kampala, ACODE Policy Briefing Paper series, No.26, 2012.

Tumushabe, G. W, and Makaaru, J.,A., *Investing in our Nation's Children: Reforming Uganda's Education System for Equity, Quality, Excellence and National Development,* Kampala, ACODE Policy Briefing Paper Series, No. 27, 2013.

Magelah, P. G., *Local Content in Oil and Gas Sector: An Assessment of Uganda's Legal and Policy Regimes,* Kampala, ACODE Policy Briefing Paper Series, No.28, 2014.

Naluwairo, R., Amumpiire, A., and Kyarisiima, J., *Operationalization of Uganda's National Tree Fund: A Process Audit and Call for Action,* Kampala, ACODE Policy Briefing Paper Series, No.29, 2014.

Mugyenyi, O., Amumpiire, A., and Namujuzi, F., Sustainable Conservation of Bwindi Impenetrable National Park and Community Welfare Improvement: Creating a Win–Win Situation by increasing the community share of the Gorilla Permit Levy and strengthening the governance of revenue sharing, Kampala, ACODE Policy Briefing Paper Series, No.30, 2014.

Naluwairo, R., Mugyenyi, O., and Amumpiire, A., Greening Uganda's 2016

General Elections: Key Issues for Political Parties and Political Leaders to Address in their Manifestoes, Kampala, ACODE Policy Briefing Paper, No.31, 2015.

Lukwago, D., *Health Spending in Uganda: Implications on the National Minimum Health Care Package,* Kampala, ACODE Policy Briefing Paper, No.32, 2016.

Achola, I., *A Review of Uganda's Road Fund: Proposals for Transforation*, Kampala, ACODE Policy Briefing Paper, No.33, 2016.

Expansion of Labour-Based Methods in Maintenance of Public Roads 23

ABOUT THE AUTHOR

Feza Greene Kabasweka is a Research Manager with Bayport Financial Services and a lecturer at Victoria University where she teaches Monetary Policy and Financial Systems, Portfolio Analysis and Quantitative Methods. Feza previously worked as a Research Assistant with DFID, Grameen Foundation and Economic Policy Research Center (EPRC). She holds a Bachelor's Degree in Economics from the American University of Cairo and MSc in Africa and International Development from University of Edinburgh, Scotland. She has interest in economic development and policy analysis.







Advocates Coalition for Development and Environment Plot 96, Kanjokya Street, Kamwokya P. O. Box 29836, Kampala Tel: +256 312 812150 Email: acode@acode-u.org; library@acode-u.org Website: www.acode-u.org